IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DENNIS M. McLEMORE AND TAMMY C. McLEMORE

APPELLANTS

V.

CASE NO.: 2007-CA-00597

MISSISSIPPI TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR APPELLANTS

J. Walker Sims Attorney for Appellants MS Bar No.: Martin, Tate, Morrow & Marston, P.C. 5699 Getwell Road Bldg. H, Suite 1 Southaven, MS 38672 (662) 772-5831

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DENNIS M. McLEMORE AND TAMMY C. McLEMORE

APPELLANTS

V.

CASE NO.: 2007-CA-00597

THE MISSISSIPPI TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATES OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1) Did the trial court err in granting summary judgment in favor of the Mississippi
Transportation Commission dismissing the claims of the McLemores under Article 3, Section 17
of the Mississippi Constitution and under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United
States Constitution for just compensation and damages.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The case at bar arises out of the Mississippi Transportation Commission (hereinafter MTC) and Talbot Brothers Contracting Co., Inc. and Talbot Brothers Grading Co., Inc.'s (hereinafter Talbot defendants) construction work that caused flooding, siltation, and loss of crops on real property owned by Dennis and wife, Tammy McLemore (hereinafter McLemores) located in DeSoto and Tunica Counties, Mississippi.

MTC and the Talbot defendants have been constructing an interstate highway between U.S. Interstate 55 at Hernando, Mississippi and U.S. Highway 61 at Robinsonville, Mississippi. The McLemores filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi against the MTC and the Talbot defendants in December 2004 alleging that there was taking without just compensation in violation of Article 3, Section 17 of the Mississippi Constitution and the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and alleging negligence against the Talbot defendants. (R.6; R.E.6)

There was an earlier eminent domain case filed by the MTC to obtain a 174 acre portion of the McLemores' DeSoto County property. On November 30, 1999, the MTC filed a Complaint with an organization of a Special Court of Eminent Domain in DeSoto County, Mississippi. A DeSoto County jury returned the verdict for the McLemores on March 23, 2001. That jury verdict was reversed by the Mississippi Supreme Court in *Mississippi Transportation Commission v. McLemore*, 863 So.2d 31 (Miss. 2003). Prior to the retrial of the eminent domain case, the MTC filed a Motion In Limine on December 23, 2004 seeking to prohibit the McLemores from introducing proof regarding flooding, drainage and erosion damages. The Honorable, County Court Judge Mills E. Barbee granted that MTC's motion and ordered as follows:

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the Plaintff's Motion in Limine is hereby sustained and the Court orders that Counsel for the Defendants, the Defendants and witnesses for the Defendants shall refrain from mentioning or stating during the trial of this cause all matters pertaining to claims of post-acquisition damages to Defendants' property caused by the construction of the highway which is the subject of this lawsuit.

All such parties shall not refer in their statements and/or testimony to damages incurred by Defendants as a result of the action of the contractor or any other party from the construction of the highway, including but not limited to erosion, siltation, crop damage and remediation efforts. The Court finds that such reference or mention of post-acquisition damages is not a proper element of damages and therefore cannot be considered in the eminent domain action. (Said order is attached as Exhibit C to the deposition of Dean Kidd whose deposition is attached hereto as Exhibit B and is attached separately as Exhibit D hereto.) (R.254; R.E.753)

The eminent domain case went to a final jury verdict on February 16, 2005 in favor of the McLemores. (R.336)

The MTC's construction of the highway itself through its contractors, the Talbot defendants caused numerous flooding, drainage, and siltation problems for the remainder of the McLemore's land. The property of the McLemores is located adjacent to Loess Bluffs which border the flat delta. Contractors, Talbot defendants, excavated fill dirt for the highway from barrow pits located on the bluffs. This excavation caused severe erosion and siltation as water rushed down from the bluffs causing silt and mud to stop up ditches and flood fields. (R.136)

In an attempt to cure some of these flooding and drainage problems, MTC built a bridge over the drainage ditch and took out a culvert that it had previously installed to allow greater flow of water. Flooding damage had been done prior to the MTC's effort to remediate by putting in a bridge. (R.310-311; R.E.56-57) The Talbot defendants were fined for their practices which caused siltation, storm water run off and erosion by the Mississippi Department of Environmental Quality (hereinafter MDEQ). (R.136)

The present litigation was brought by the McLemores alleging a taking without just compensation of the McLemores property by the MTC due to flooding and siltation and also alleging negligence against the Talbot defendants. It was not brought up in the Tort Claims Act

against the MTC. The McLemores have sustained damage to the crops caused by flooding and by erosion of the bluffs sending silt into the fields in the delta below.

In the case at bar, the MTC answered and immediately filed a summary judgment motion asserting that the action against the MTC should have been brought under the Tort Claim Act rather than as a taking under the Mississippi and United States' Constitutions. (R.90; R.E.36)

The McLemores responded to the motion arguing that there was a taking. (R.118; R.E.44) The trial court found that there was no taking and that the case should have been brought under the Tort Claim Act. (R.356; R.E.58) The decision did not apply to the Talbot defendants.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment and dismissing Dennis M.

McLemore and wife, Tammy C. McLemore's complaint against the Mississippi Transportation commission for compensation for a taking without just compensation caused by the MTC's construction of an interstate highway resulting in flooding, siltation, and loss of crops on the McLemore's real property. The McLemore's alleged compensation was due under Article 3, Section 17 of the Mississippi Constitution and under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution. The trial court held that the McLemore's should have brought the case under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act or not at all against the Mississippi Transportation Commission.

This decision contradicts a recent Court of Appeals decision. In *B&W Farms v*. *Mississippi Transportation Commission*, 922 So. 2d 857 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), the Court of Appeals upheld a summary judgment for the Mississippi Transportation Commission in a case alleging flood damage to crops sustained during expansion and construction of U.S. Highway 61. The Complaint alleged that B&W Farms had a cause of action under the Tort Claims Act and that the defendants unlawfully and negligently obstructed the natural flow of surface water. The Court of Appeals held that a claim for compensation under the Mississippi Constitution had not been adequately pled and that a summary judgment was the correct decision.

If the trial court's decision in the case at bar is allowed to stand, then landowners will have no remedy for flooding and siltation caused by the Mississippi Transportation Commission. Both the Mississippi and United States Constitution have protected land owners whose land is damaged and subjected to flooding and siltation caused by a public entity. In the Mississippi Supreme Court case, *Potters II v. State Highway Commission of Mississippi*, 608 So. 2d 1227 (Miss. 1992). The Court stated:

The Constitution of this state provides: Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use, except on due compensation being first made to the owner or owners thereof,...Miss. Const. Art. 3, §17 (1890). It becomes important to remember the Constitution commands due compensation for property taken "or damaged." *Parker v. State Highway Commission*, 173 Miss. 213, 162 So. 162 (1935), reminds us the words "or damaged" were added to the Constitution to secure a private property owner for damages not covered by the actual taking. *Parker*, 173 Miss. at 219, 162 So. at 163.

Potters II v. State Highway Com'n of Mississippi, 608 So.2d 1227, 1230 (Miss. 1992).

In *Jacobs v. U.S.*, 290 U.S.13 (1933), the U.S. Supreme Court upheld the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals' decision that a landowner whose property became subject to increased flooding by construction was entitled to just compensation. The U.S. Supreme Court stated as follows:

A servitude was created by reason of intermittent overflow which impaired the use of the lands for agricultural purposes. 45 F. (2d) page 37; 63 F. (2d) page 327. There was a partial taking of lands for which the government was bound to make just compensation under the Fifth Amendment. United States v. Cress, 243 U.S. 316, 327-329, 37 S.Ct. 380, 61 L.Ed. 746; United States v. Lynah, 188 U.S. 445, 470, 23 S.Ct. 349, 47 L.Ed. 539; Hurley v. Kincaid, 285 U.S. 95, 104, 2 S.Ct. 267, 76 L.Ed. 637.

Jacobs v. U.S., 290 U.S. 13 (1933), at 16.

Both the Mississippi and the United States Constitution require just compensation for the McLemores.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in granting summary judgment. The trial court decided that the cause of action should have been brought against the MTC under the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. The trial court did not believe that there was an action for compensation under the Mississippi Constitution or the United States Constitution. An appeal from summary judgment is reviewed de novo. *Jacox v. Circus Circus Mississippi, Inc.*, 908 So. 2d 181, 183 (4) (Miss Ct. App. 2005) (citing *Cossitt v. Alfa Ins. Corp.*, 726 So. 2d 132, 136 (19) (Miss. 1998). The standard by which this Court reviews the grant or denial of summary judgment is the same standard as is employed by the trial court under Rule 56(c) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Id. (citing *Dailey v. Methodist Medical Ctr.*, 790 So. 2d 903, 906-07 (3) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party in order to determine whether any genuine issue of material fact exists. Id. (citing *Dailey*, 790 So. 2d at 907).

In *B&W Farms v. Mississippi Transportation Commission*, 922 So. 2d 857 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006), the Court of Appeals upheld a summary judgment for the Mississippi Transportation Commission in a case alleging flood damage to crops sustained during expansion and construction of U.S. Highway 61. The Complaint alleged that B&W Farms had a cause of action under the Tort Claims Act and that the defendants unlawfully and negligently obstructed the natural flow of surface water. The Court of Appeals held that a claim for compensation under the Mississippi Constitution had not been adequately pled and that a summary judgment was the correct decision.

If the trial court's decision in the case at bar is allowed to stand, then landowners will have no remedy for flooding and siltation caused by the Mississippi Transportation Commission.

Neither the United States Constitution nor the Mississippi Constitution have been construed in the past to provide no compensation for land owners whose land is flooded and filled with silt caused by a government entity.

In Jacobs v. U.S., 290 U.S.13 (1933), the U.S. Supreme Court upheld the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals' decision that a landowner whose property became subject to an increase in overflows from Jones Creek a tributary of the Tennessee River caused by the construction of a dam along the Tennessee River was entitled to just compensation. The U.S. Supreme Court stated as follows:

A servitude was created by reason of intermittent overflow which impaired the use of the lands for agricultural purposes. 45 F. (2d) page 37; 63 F. (2d) page 327. There was a partial taking of lands for which the government was bound to make just compensation under the Fifth Amendment. United States v. Cress, 243 U.S. 316, 327-329, 37 S.Ct. 380, 61 L.Ed. 746; United States v. Lynah, 188 U.S. 445, 470, 23 S.Ct. 349, 47 L.Ed. 539; Hurley v. Kincaid, 285 U.S. 95, 104, 2 S.Ct. 267, 76 L.Ed. 637.

Jacobs v. U.S., 290 U.S. 13 (1933), at 16.

In *Pumpelly v. Green Bay Company*, 80 U.S. 166 (1871), the U.S. Supreme Court interpreted the Wisconsin Constitution in accord with sound eminent domain principals and announced:

...it remains true that where real estate is actually invaded by superinduced additions of water, earth, sand, or other material, or by having any artificial structure placed on it, so as to effectively destroy or impair its usefulness, it is a taking, within the meaning of the Constitution and that this proposition is not in conflict with the weight of judicial authority in this Country, and certainly not with sound principle.

Id. at 181.

The Mississippi case of *Parker v. State Highway Commission*, 173 Miss. 213, 162 (1935) gives a property owner rights against the MTC when work on adjoining real property party damages the owner's property. The Mississippi Supreme Court held as follows:

Section 17 of the Constitution of 1890 is as follows: "Private property shall not be taken or damaged for public use except on due compensation being first made to the owner or owners thereof, in a manner to be prescribed by law; and whenever an attempt is made to take private property for a use alleged to be public, the question whether the contemplated use be public shall be a judicial question, and as such determined without regard to legislative assertion that the use is public." [Emphasis and italics added [1] Prior to the adoption of the Constitution of 1890, a citizen was only protected against the taking of this property for public use without due compensation; he had no protection against injuries to his rights as owner of private property, less than the appropriation of the property itself. The words "or damaged" were inserted in the section of the Constitution, above referred to, in order to remedy this wrong, and it was the manifest purpose of the framers of the Constitution to protect the citizen in the use an enjoyment of his property, and to guarantee, to him those damages which were not embraced within the actual taking of the property. Prior to that time his damages were dam num absque injuries, but since the adoption of this Constitution the burden formerly resting upon the citizen rests upon the agency damaging the property, as well as the appropriation thereof. Since the lawful construction of the highway in question occasioned damage to the private owner, separate and distinct from that borne by the general public, such damage is embraced within the terms and plain language of Section 17 of the Constitution. Municipalities as well as all persons, natural or artificial, are included within its prohibitions, and a municipality which lowers an established grade of a highway and causes abutting lots to be injured must compensate the owner for all damage sustained thereby. City of Vicksburg v. Herman, 72 Miss. 211, 16 So. 434. This case has been approved by this court a number of times. Ham v. Board of Levee Commissioners, 83 Miss. 534, 35 So. 943; Yazoo & M.V. R. Co. v. Lefoldt, 87 Miss. 317, 39 So. 459; King v. Vicksburg Railway & Light Co., 88 Miss. 456, 42 So. 204, 1 L.R.A. (N.S.) 1036, 117 Am. St. Rep. 749; City of Jackson v. Williams, 92 Miss. 301, 46 So. 551; Tishomingo County v. McConville, 139 Miss. 589, 104 So. 452; Whites's Garage, Inc. v. Town of Poplarville, 153 Miss. 683, 1221 So. 295; City of Kosciusko v. Jerkins, 164 Miss. 235, 144 So. 467. In the Herman Case, supra, this court said, relative to the words "or damaged" in our Constitution: "The words are without limitation or qualification. They embrace within their inhibition all those attempting to convert private property to public use,--artificial as well as natural persons, municipal and other corporations alike, -- and they cover all damages of whatever character. "Injury to the adjoining property by the change of grade is damage within the constitutional sense. We understand counsel for that state highway commission to concede that the damaged here alleged to have been sustained by the appellant are within the meaning of the words "or damaged" in Section 17 of the Constitution.[2][3] Under subdivision (b), Section 5006, Code of 1930, the powers of the state highway commission are defined so as to include the performance of such a contract as the one involved in the case at bar. The

commission is further authorized to acquire by gift, purchase, condemnation, or otherwise, land or other property whatsoever, that is necessary for a state highway system as therein provided. By Section 4998, Code of 1930, the state highway commission is vested with authority to institute proceedings to acquire land necessary for road purposes, by condemnation in conformity with the statutes on eminent domain, being chapter 26, Code of 1930 (Section 1480 et 164 seq.). Section 4998 also contains the following provision: "The amount of such compensation and damages, if any, awarded to the owner in such proceedings, shall be paid out of the state highway 'construction fund.' The authorities constructing such highway under the authority as is provided for in this section, shall use diligence to protect growing crops and pastures, and to prevent damage to any property not taken. "Section 1491, Code of 1930, provides that the justice of the peace shall instruct the jury that compensation is not only allowed for the value of the property actually taken, but also for the damages, if any, which may result to the owner as a consequence of the taking. By subdivision (c) of Section 5006, Code of 1930, the highway commission is vested within the following power: "To enforce by mandamus, or other proper legal remedies, all legal rights or rights of action of the state highway commission with other public bodies, corporations, or persons, and the state highway commission shall be a body corporate, and as such may sue and be sued, plead and be impleaded, in any court of justice having jurisdiction of the subject matter of any such suit." After examination of these statutes on the powers of the highway commission, we are convinced that express power and privilege is given the state highway commission to condemn land, to make compensation therefore, and to pay the award our of a certain fund, and all the power granted to public bodies taking private property for public use under the chapter on eminent domain is expressly granted to the state highway commission; and if not by express terms it is clearly implied that private property damaged for public use may be condemned, although there my not be an actual appropriation of any part of the land.

Parker v. State Highway Commission, 162 So. 162, 163-164 (Miss. 1935).

In *Parker*, the Court goes on to elaborate the Constitutions' protections for individual's property rights:

We have considered the case of *State Highway Commission v. Mrs. V.S. Chatham*, 161 So. 674, decided by Division B, on Monday, May 20th, and find nothing therein which conflicts with the conclusion reached here; this question being there specially reserved. We say here that by implication the statute authorized the payment not only of compensation for the land, but for damages as well, and conferred all the powers embraced within the eminent domain chapter upon the state highway commission. But, if we should be mistaken in this view, Section 17, Constitution of 1890, is self-executing. Prior to the adoption of this Constitution the Legislature could limit a landowner's recovery to compensation for the land appropriated for public use, but as Section 17 now exists it is quite clear that any effort on the part of the Legislature to shield the government or any arm thereof from payment of damages occasioned by it on the appropriation of land would be futile an of no effect. Before our Constitution was adopted, sections similar to the one here under consideration had been construed by the courts of other states as being self-executing. Section 17 of the Constitution is

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