IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

DENNIS M. McLEMORE AND WIFE, TAMMY C. McLEMORE

APPELLANTS

v.

NO. 2007-CA-00597

TALBOT BROS. CONTRACTING CO., INC.; TALBOT BROS. GRADING CO., INC.; AND THE MISSISSIPPI TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal From the Circuit Court of DeSoto County, Mississippi

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

JIM HOOD Attorney General of the State of Mississippi

RICHARD G. NOBLE (MB CROSTHWAIT, TERNEY & NOBLE, PLLC Post Office Box 29 Indianola, MS 38751-0029 Telephone: (662) 887-3412 Facsimile: (662) 887-6661

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no genuine issue of fact or law to dispute that the McLemores' Complaint is clearly tort-based, and subject to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act. Mississippi Transportation Commission is sued, along with its contractor, Talbot, for money damages based on allegations of negligence. Mississippi Transportation Commission's position is that the Mississippi Tort Claims Act is the exclusive remedy for claims for monetary damages against it. The McLemores admit that they did not file their Complaint pursuant to the Mississippi Tort Claims Act.

The trial judge found that the McLemores' claims fell within the purview of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act based on the plain language of their Complaint. Additionally, the trial court ruled that there was basis for the constitutional allegations of a taking, and finding that the claims were barred by the applicable statute of limitations.

Following the established and controlling law of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act and numerous decisions, particularly <u>City of Jackson v. Sutton</u>, 797 So.2d 977 (Miss. 2001), the trial judge correctly dismissed the claims against Mississippi Transportation Commission, leaving Talbot as the remaining defendant for a remedy for the McLemores. In the <u>Sutton</u> decision, the Supreme Court paid no attention to the feeble attempt to make a constitutional claim.

Alternatively, Mississippi Transportation Commission is immune from liability pursuant to §11-46-9(1)(p), <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u>; MTC cannot be held liable for the negligence of its independent contractor; McLemores' claims are barred by their eminent domain

6

recovery and all liability rests with Talbot.

MTC, as a state agency, has immunity from federal constitutional claims under the Eleventh Amendment and because it is not a "person" under Section 1983.

The granting of summary judgment and final judgment in favor of Mississippi Transportation Commission is amply supported by credible, substantial and reasonable evidence, and the trial judge's decision should be affirmed.

7

ARGUMENT

The trial court's granting of summary judgment and final judgment in favor of MTC is to be reviewed here <u>de novo</u>. <u>South Central Regional Medical Center v. Guffy</u>, 930 So.2d 1252 (Miss. 2006), <u>Parker v. Horace Mann Ins. Co.</u>, 949 So.2d 57, (Miss. App. 2006), and <u>Delahoussay v. Mary Mahoney's</u>, Inc., 696 So.2d 689 (Miss. 1997) The paramount issue is the exclusive application of the MTCA to the claims against MTC. MTC submits that the provisions of MTCA are controlling in this case. Because there is no genuine issue that the MTCA is the exclusive remedy for tort claims against governmental entities, and the McLemores' Complaint is clearly tort-based, and subject to the MTCA, summary judgment in favor of MTC was the proper and required disposition of this case.

I.

THE MCLEMORES FAILED TO REBUT SUMMARY JUDGMENT

A. The Summary Judgment Standard

A motion for summary judgment is proper where there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Saucier through Saucier v. Biloxi Regional Medical Center, 708 So. 2d 1351, 1354-1355 (Miss. 1998). M.R.C.P. 56© requires that "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." The rule does not provide for evidence which *might* be introduced or developed at trial. The party resisting summary judgment must produce any such evidence in opposition to the motion. It is thus

incumbent upon a plaintiff to respond to a motion for summary judgment by demonstrating material factual disputes. <u>Commercial Bank v. Hearn</u>, 923 So.2d 202, 210 (Miss. 2006). The comment to Rule 56 provides that summary judgment "serves as an instrument of discovery in calling forth quickly the disclosure on the merits of either a claim or defense ..." <u>Commercial Bank v. Hearn</u>, 923 So.2d 202, 210 (Miss. 2006).

The evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. However, the non-moving party cannot just sit back and remain silent. He must rebut the motion by producing significant probative evidence showing that there are genuine issues of material fact. <u>Murphree v. Federal Insurance Co.</u>, 707 So. 2d 523, 529 (Miss. 1997) In other words, "[t]he non-moving party may not defeat the motion merely by making general allegations or unsupported denials of material fact.... The party opposing the motion must by affidavit or otherwise set forth specific facts showing that there are indeed issues for trial."" <u>Commercial Bank v. Hearn</u>, 923 So.2d 202, 204 (Miss. 2006). "[t]he mere existence of a disputed factual issue, therefore, does not foreclose summary judgment. The dispute must be genuine, and the facts must be material." <u>Williams v. Bennett</u>, 921 So. 2d 1269, 1272 (Miss. 2006).

B. The McLemores' Lack of Proof

The McLemores did not offer any sworn testimony to rebut the motion for summary judgment. They did not offer any affidavits. They likewise did not offer any sworn deposition testimony. Rather, they relied on the conclusory allegations of their Complaint.

When a motion for summary judgment is made and supported, an adverse party may

not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleadings. His response must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment shall be entered against him. <u>Barrentine v. Mississippi Department of Transportation</u>, 913 So.2d 391 (Miss. App. 2005), <u>Corey v. Skelton</u>, 834 So.2d 681, 684 (¶ 7) (Miss. 2003) (citing <u>Miller v. Meeks</u>, 762 So.2d 302, 304 (¶3) (Miss. 2000) (citing <u>Brown</u> <u>v. Credit Ctr., Inc.</u>, 444 So.2d 358, 362 (Miss. 1983)). Here, the McLemores' offered nothing to create any doubt as to MTC's proof.

C. The McLemores' Admission

The principal question of law presented to the trial judge was whether the MTCA was the McLemores' exclusive remedy, or whether they made a claim under the Mississippt Constitution.

In oral argument, the McLemores admitted that they did not proceed under the MTCA. At page 28, line 18-19, (R.E. 98) of the summary judgment transcript, McLemores' counsel stated:

... Your Honor, nor has the *City of Jackson*, which is also cited and -- and because of the immunities, one of which is a design, and exactly what Mr. Noble was talking about, a design and building things to certain codes, <u>we haven't proceeded under the</u> <u>Tort Claims Act.</u>

We, very clearly in our complaint, set forth that we thought that the Highway Department had a second taking of this property, a second taking, inverse condemnation, whatever particular jargon you want to put to it. . . (emphasis added)

Then at pages 32-33, Line 3-4, (R.E. 102-103) counsel said

... the silt coming into the channels and ditches that are there, which are going to have at some point be remediated, and just general disruption of his farming.

So those are -- we concede, Your Honor, and have conceded in our brief that there is not a claim under the Tort Claims Act. We've got a claim in tort against the Talbots, but what we're doing here is saying that this is a claim that precedes from the Constitution of Mississippi, ... (emphasis added)

The trial judge sitting as the finder of fact, found that the MTCA was the McLemores' exclusive remedy. In light of the McLemores' admissions on this issue of law, their appeal completely fails.

II.

THE MTCA IS THE McLEMORES' EXCLUSIVE REMEDY

The McLemores' allegations in their Complaint are straight-forward claims of negligence which constitute a tort. In fact, the Complaint is replete with negligence allegations and the primary focus of the suit is to recover money damages. (R. 6, R.E. 6-35)

MTC submits that it is appropriate for this Court to review the McLemores' Complaint for all the references to negligence, <u>inter alia</u>:

- 1. "Talbot defendants ... unreasonably and **negligently** interfered with surface water drainage" (R.8, R.E.8)
- 2. "using **negligent** and unreasonable construction practices..." (R.9, R.E.9)
- 3. "negligently constructing ditches and barriers..." (R.9, R.E.9)
- 4. "failing to construct..., failing to use... due to the **negligence** of the Talbot defendants." (R.9, R.E.9)
- 5. "The Talbot defendants have committed negligent acts which have

proximately caused damage to the McLemore property, growing crops... and to the McLemores." (R.9, R.E.9)

- 6. "The Talbot defendants have performed a number of actions which have unreasonably and **negligently** interfered with surface water drainage..." (R.9, R.E.9)
- 7. "using **negligent** and unreasonable construction practices..." (R.10, R.E.10)
- 8. "**negligently** constructing ditches and barriers..." (R.10, R.E.10)
- 9. "failing to construct..., failing to use... due to the **negligence** of the Talbot defendants." (R.10, R.E.10)
- 10. "The **negligent** actions of the Talbot defendants are the proximate cause and/or proximate causes of the damages to the McLemore property..." (R.10, R.E.10)
- 11. "Damages in the form of **negligent** infliction of mental distress and mental anguish." (R.11, R.E.11)²

MTC cites the parallel case <u>B&W Farms, Inc. V. MTC</u>, 922 So.2d 857 (Miss. App.)

2006) where the Court of Appeals affirmed the lower court's granting of summary judgment just as in this case.³ There the Court said the Complaint and its allegations "point to negligence", at p. 859. The McLemores explicitly say that Talbot and MTC are negligent. The Court, in <u>B&W Farms</u>, <u>supra</u>, noted that the Complaint was also void of references to a taking. Further emphasizing that the MTCA should apply to this case, MTC would point out that the damage portion of the Complaint seeks various monetary damages for the negligent actions set out.

²Damages through erosion and siltation. Damages to growing crops for 2000, 2001, 2002, 2004, 2004 and future years. Damage from cost profits. Damages in diminution of value of land. Costs to restore drainage. Damage from negligent infliction of mental distress and mental anguish. (Paragraph 17 of Complaint) (R.11, R.E. 11)

³The <u>B&W</u> case only reaffirms the exclusive remedy of the MTCA to this case.

Taking all the negligence and damages allegations of the Complaint, the conclusion

is clear that this case is a tort/damage suit, governed exclusively by the MTCA.

Consider the language of § 11-46-7, Miss. Code Ann., which states:

§ 11-46-7. Exclusiveness of remedy

(1) The remedy provided by this chapter against a governmental entity or its employee is exclusive of any other civil action or civil proceeding by reason of the same subject matter against the governmental entity or its employee or the estate of the employee for the act or omission which gave rise to the claim or suit; and any claim made or suit filed against a governmental entity or its employee to recover damages for any injury for which immunity has been waived under this chapter shall be brought only under the provisions of this chapter, notwithstanding the provisions of any other law to the contrary. (emphasis added)

There are numerous cases in support of this clear statutory mandate. <u>Wayne General</u> <u>Hosp. v. Hayes</u>, 868 So.2d 997, 1003 (Miss. 2004); <u>Black v. Ansah</u>, 876 So.2d 395, 3974. 398 (Miss. App. 2003); <u>Harris ex rel. Harris v. McCray</u>, 867 So.2d 188, 190-191 (Miss. 2003); <u>Mississippi Dept. Of Public Safety v. Durn</u>, 861 So.2d 990, 994 (Miss. 2003); <u>Kelley v. Grenada County</u>, 859 So.2d 1049, 1052 (Miss. App. 2003); <u>Titus v. Williams</u>, 844 So.2d 459, 468 (Miss. 2003); <u>City of Jackson v. Brister</u>, 838 So.2d 274, 278 (Miss. 2003); <u>Watts v. Tsang</u>, 828 So.2d 785, 791 (Miss. 2002); <u>City of Jackson v. Sutton</u>, 797 So.2d 977, 980 (Miss. 2001); <u>Maldonado v. Kelly</u>, 768 So.2d 906, 909 (Miss. 2000); <u>L.W.</u> v. <u>McComb Separate Mun. Sch. Dist.</u>, 754 So2d 1136, 1138 (Miss. 1999); and <u>City of</u> <u>Tupelo v. Martin</u>, 747 So.2d 822, 826 (Miss. 1999).

Specifically citing the <u>Sutton</u> case, the Suttons did not make any claim under the Tort

Claims Act, rather they asserted violations of their rights under the Mississippi Constitution. In the case at bar, The McLemores' Complaint is a demand for damages, although there is some language which attempts to plead relief under the Mississippi Constitution and laws of eminent domain. (Paragraph 15 of the Complaint, R. 10, R.E. 10-11) The Defendants in <u>Sutton</u> filed a Motion for Summary Judgment stating that the Mississippi Tort Claims Act was the sole and exclusive remedy for the McLemores, and that no other law would sustain the cause of action. The Supreme Court agreed and held that indeed, the Tort Claims Act is the exclusive remedy for filing suit against a governmental entity and its employees for tortbased actions, except in cases where injunctive relief is sought or there is no claim for money damages. The Court found that the Suttons were only seeking monetary relief, and therefore[#] the Tort Claims Act was their sole remedy.

McLemores' attempts to avoid the MTCA exclusive remedy provision has been rejected soundly by this Court and the Court of Appeals in recent decisions. <u>Calcote v. City</u> <u>of Jackson</u>, 910 So.2d 1103 (Miss. App. 2005) (domestic violence statutes), <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>Payne</u>, 922 So.2d 48 (Miss. App. 2006) (sheriff's liability) and <u>Pounds v. Mississippi</u> <u>Department of Health</u>, 946 So.2d 413 (Miss. 2006) (medical malpractice).

:

As the McLemores seek only monetary relief, their single method is the MTCA, which they admit they have totally failed to plead. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in granting MTC's motion for summary judgment.

14

MCLEMORES' CLAIMS AGAINST MTC ARE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

Since the McLemores admit that they did not file their suit under the MTCA and they should have, the McLemores have failed to comply with the mandatory notice provisions of §11-46-11, <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> It is uncontradicted that the McLemores sent no notice to MTC. Again, because The McLemores' failed to sue in accordance with the MTCA their claims are time barred by the applicable one year statute of limitations set forth in §11-46-11(3) <u>Miss.</u> <u>Code Ann.</u> No issue exists to contradict this fact, and the trial judge so noted by finding that the McLemores' claim was barred by the statute of limitations. (R. 352, R.E. 121) This ond* (1) year statute of limitations has been uniformly accepted where no notice of claim was filed* within one (1) year of the claimed injury. <u>Black v. City of Tupelo</u>, 853 So.2d 1221 (Miss. 2003), <u>Southern v. Mississippi State Hospital</u>, 853 So.2d 1212 (Miss. 2003), and <u>Southern v. Jones</u>, 851 So.2d 395 (Miss. App. 2003).

A trial judges findings are safe on appeal where they are supported by "substantial, credible and reasonable evidence". <u>Vede v. Delta Regional Medical Center</u>, 933 So.2d 310 (Miss. App. 2006)

IV.

MTC IS IMMUNE FROM SUIT PURSUANT TO §11-46-9(1)(p)

§11-46-9(1)(p), Miss. Code Ann., states as follows:

"(1) A governmental entity and its employees acting within the

course and scope of their employment or duties shall not be liable for any claim:

... (p) Arising out of a plan or design for construction or improvements to public property, including but not limited to, public buildings, highways, roads, streets, bridges, levees, dikes, dams, impoundments, drainage channels, diversion channels, harbors, ports, wharfs or docks, where such plan or design has been approved in advance of the construction or improvement by the legislative body or governing authority of a governmental entity or by some other body or administrative agency, exercising discretion by authority to give such approval, and where such plan or design is in conformity with engineering or design standards in effect at the time of preparation of the plan or design; (emphasis added)

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